Appendix

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

University of Michigan Docket No. 50-2

As a result of the inspection conducted on October 2-4, 1985, and in
accordance with the General Policy and Procedures for NRC Enforcement
Actions, (10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C), the following violation was identified:

1. 10 CFR 20.303(a) states no licensee shall discharge licensed material
into a sanitary sewerage system unless it is readily soluble or
dispersible in water.

Contrary to the above, on numerous occasions during 1985, licensed material
that was not readily soluble or dispersible was released from the Ford
Nuclear Reactor/Phoenix Memorial Laboratory (FNR/PML) to the sanitary sewer.

This is a Severity Level IV violation {Suppliement IV).

Technical Specifications 6.4.8 states radiation protection procedures,
reviewed and approved by the Safety Review Committee, will be in effect
and followed. Health Physics Procedure 207, Effluent Activity Calculation
Procedure, Section 2.3 states effluent reports will be prepared on a
quarterly basis by the health physics staff.

Contrary to the above, no effluent reports for the fourth guarter 1984,
and first and second quarters 1985 were prepared.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement IV).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to submit to
this office within thirty days of the date of this Notice a written statement
or explanation in reply, including for each item of noncompliance: (1) cor-
rective action taken and the results achieved; (2) corrective action to be
taken to avoid further noncompliance; and (3) the date when full compliance
will be achieved. Consideration may be given to extending your response time
for good cause shown.
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